

Current Fertility Industry Practices Call for Strict Oversight, Promotion of Restorative Reproductive Medicine

The recent executive order calling for policy recommendations to protect in vitro fertilization (IVF) access and reduce out-of-pocket and health plan costs for IVF treatment has the potential to positively alter the landscape of reproductive medicine, pending the form of said recommendations. The following analysis highlights the most pressing concerns related to IVF and other assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) and provides policy recommendations to promote access to holistic reproductive health care and require IVF providers to treat embryos as children instead of objects for sale.





Contents

Medical and Ethical Concerns Related to Current Standard Practices of the Fertility Industry
1. Commodification of children and exploitation of women via surrogacy 3
2. Myriad physical health risks to mother and child
3. Failure to adequately utilize the restorative health options available \dots 4
4. Failure to prevent gross oversights leading to immeasurable emotional and physical trauma
5. Increasing demand for commercial surrogacy from foreign nationals (pathway to citizenship) and celebrities6
6. Failure to address the harm experienced by surrogate mothers
7. Permitting ethically questionable practices 7
Policy Recommendations: Expanding Access to In Vitro Fertilization (IVF) Necessitates Strict Oversight of the Fertility Industry and Promotion of Restorative Reproductive Medicine7
1. Promote reproductive restorative medicine: advance the RESTORE Act 7
2. Introduce legislation with life-affirming requirements
3. Prevent "never events": require regulation of ART providers, reporting (data collection), & comprehensive informed consent
4. Advance the Protecting Families from Fertility Fraud Act12
5. Oppose the Right to IVF Act and IVF Protection Act
6. Avoid federally subsidizing IVF, allow insurance companies flexibility and choice related to IVF coverage
7. Ensure any policies expanding IVF provide conscience protections *13
Assisted Reproductive Technologies and Life-Affirming Regulations Are Not
Mutually Exclusive

Medical and Ethical Concerns Related to Current Standard Practices of the Fertility Industry

Every child born from vitro fertilization (IVF) has incalculable worth and value, just as any child conceived naturally. Liberty Counsel Action celebrates these lives while also recognizing the sobering reality that current industry practice results in more failures than successful live births, leading to emotional pain and financial struggles for the couples involved. The following are our top concerns related to current industry practice.

1. Commodification of children and exploitation of women via surrogacy

- A. Current estimates suggest there are over 1.5 million frozen embryos nationwide.¹ Any policy seeking to expand IVF access without providing limitations on embryo creation would exacerbate this (often indefinite) practice of placing lives on hold.
- B. Industry practice often involves embryo grading, genetic testing, and selection. The most common approach, preimplantation genetic testing, is currently offered by over 90% of ART clinics for characteristics ranging from eye color to sex² and even IQ³ (with 73% explicitly offering sex selection). Such testing for the purposes of selecting "desirable" embryos is the epitome of **eugenics**, widely accepted as a failed science post the horror of the Nazi regime in Germany. Some seek to justify the current practice of eugenics by distinguishing the reasons for it, but the outcome is the same: individuals die if they don't make the grade.⁴ **It should not go unmentioned that Germany has some of the strongest IVF protections, largely because the history of eugenics under Nazism is very present in the national psyche. The German population understands fully the weight of creating human life and the danger of choosing characteristics to suit one's own desires.⁵*
- C. Ironically, though it remains routine in IVF, the American Association of Pro-Life OBGYNs (AAPLOG) found "several studies indicate PGT lowers the live birth rate; does not improve pregnancy, implantation, or live birth rates; and should not be used except perhaps for research studies."⁶
- D. Unless strictly prohibited, expansion of IVF would advance the promotion of surrogacy, which enables individuals to "buy" an egg or a sperm, "rent" a womb, and "create" a child or "designer baby"⁷ with traits to their liking. By design, it severs the "natural maternal bonding that takes place during pregnancy," which can lead to difficulties in adjustment for children.⁸
- E. Related, surrogate mothers are at risk of exploitation⁹ (including being trafficked¹⁰) and have a higher risk of postpartum depression¹¹ and severe maternal morbidities,¹² compared to those who conceived without the use of ARTs.¹³

2. Myriad physical health risks to mother and child

A. Children conceived through IVF face a 40% higher chance of birth defects, "double the chance of stillbirth," an increased risk of "any type of childhood cancer" (according to one study), an increased risk of leukemia, higher blood pressure, low birth weight, and more.¹⁴ As one study highlights, "sources of stress on the human embryo include changes in pH and temperature shifts, exposure to atmospheric (20%) oxygen (vs. 95% in the body) and the

build-up of toxins in the media the embryo is in. When more than one stress is present in the laboratory, there is evidence that negative synergies can result, culminating in significant trauma to the developing embryo."¹⁵

- B. Tragically, a Swedish study demonstrates that for those children who are born alive, they likely have "higher infant mortality risks" compared to those born without the use of ARTs.¹⁶
- C. Women undergoing IVF similarly face double the risk of life-threatening pregnancy complications, "a 26% increase in the risk of preterm birth," as well as an increased risk for vascular complications (e.g. irregular heartbeat and kidney injury).¹⁷
- D. According to the CDC, in 2022 the percent of live births resulting from embryo transfers using a patient's own eggs ranged from 31.6%-43.6% for women up to age 40.¹⁸ After age 40 this declines dramatically; according to one global fertility agency, IVF leads to live birth for less than 8% of women over 40.¹⁹ Another study highlights that anticipated "success" is often met with discouragement; while almost 60% of patients expect to achieve a live birth, doctors' average estimates for said patient success was just over 30%.²⁰ The emotional and physical impacts of often multiple pregnancy losses is impossible to calculate.

3. Failure to adequately utilize the restorative health options available

- A. Infertility affects 1 in 7 individuals and is often a side effect of one or multiple underlying condition(s), including (but not limited to): endometriosis, adenomyosis, polycystic ovary syndrome, uterine fibroids, hormone imbalances, and more.²¹ For example, endometriosis is present in 63% of unexplained infertility cases for women.²² Tragically, it takes 11 years, on average, to receive a diagnosis, and many women turn to IVF.²³
- B. Conversely, several single-clinic studies show "adjusted cumulative live birth rates ranging from 29% to 66%" when "subfertile couples" receive "restorative reproductive medicine... for up to two years,"²⁴ removing the need for an expensive, risk-laden IVF procedure.
- C. Documented cases further demonstrate restorative reproductive medicine can "improve fertility rates even after IVF failure."²⁵
- D. Any policy expanding access to IVF and related reproductive technologies should ensure doctors and patients "understand how to treat each of the conditions involved . . . Women should not spend years in pain struggling with 'unexplained infertility' when restorative treatments could alleviate their pain and remove barriers to successfully conceiving and carrying children. Such methods may also increase a couple's success rates if they decide to still use IVF, too."²⁶ (Indeed, failing to deal with these issues while still seeking IVF may lead to a greater chance of miscarriage. For example, one study found women with endometriosis had a 76% higher risk of miscarriage and an ectopic pregnancy rate three times higher than those without.²⁷)

4. Failure to prevent gross oversights leading to immeasurable emotional and physical trauma

A. Currently there are very few regulations providing effective protection for women and children undergoing IVF; for example, while IVF providers are technically meant to report to

the CDC, said requirements "are not enforced and do not include information on accidents, adverse events, or legal or regulatory actions against clinics."²⁸ Similarly, only 11 states have laws regulating "facilities that collect and transfer human gametes and embryos."²⁹

- B. As outlined by Emi Nietfeld, the fertility industry is, for the most part, "self-regulated by professional bodies that have no enforcement power, besides referring reckless doctors to state medical boards."³⁰
- C. This lack of oversight has likely contributed to numerous egregious harms, including the following:
 - In April 2024, Ovation Fertility in Newport Beach, California was sued by 11 couples "for using hydrogen peroxide instead of distilled water during the incubation process" and for relying on "inexperienced, cheap, unqualified, and untrained employees to cut corners and maximize profits."³¹ Despite knowing they were unviable, the clinic transferred over two dozen embryos into would-be mothers, then "waited over a month to tell them something went wrong."³²
 - A 2023 investigation into Kindbody, a fertility provider with 33 clinics nationwide, uncovered "multiple instances of accidental embryo destruction, mislabeled embryos, and labs with faulty heating, ventilation, and air conditioning systems."³³ One woman experienced intense trauma after waiting for three hours to have her last embryo implanted—having invested over \$30,000 and undergone multiple hormone injections—only to learn it was mislabeled and the clinic was not sure it was hers.³⁴
 - In 2021, two women gave birth to and raised each other's children for months after the California Center for Reproductive Health and In Vitrotech Labs "mixed up" their embryos; DNA testing eventually revealed the mistake.³⁵
 - In 2019, a New Jersey couple filed suit against the "Institute for Reproductive Medicine and Science for an alleged mistake of putting the wrong egg with the wrong sperm." The couple noticed Asian features developing in the child at around the two-year mark, and after a DNA test showed the father had a 0% chance of being biologically related, the stress and tension that ensued led to divorce.³⁶
 - In recent years numerous "fertility fraud" cases have come to light; specifically, the cases "claim dozens of women unknowingly gave birth to children fathered by more than 50 doctors," some of whom are accused of illegally using "their own sperm to artificially inseminate patients."³⁷ Caused by a lack of regulation, such scenarios can lead "to a worst-case scenario coming to pass: accidental incest."³⁸ In one case, a woman conceived with sperm from a fertility doctor (allegedly without her mother's permission) eventually discovered she had 22 siblings—one of whom had been her high school boyfriend.³⁹ (Legislation introduced in 2023 would address this issue; see recommendations.)
 - In 2018, over 150 families filed suit against University Hospitals in Ohio after a freezer malfunctioned, leading to the loss of 4,000 eggs and embryos. According to one news source, "Temperatures rose in a cryopreservation tank, rendering the embryos and the eggs of more than 900 families nonviable."⁴⁰

- In 2018, a California freezer tank failed, killing more than 3,500 human embryos and eggs. Over 140 federal lawsuits were filed against the tank manufacturer.⁴¹
- The Alabama case was entirely centered on the wrongful death of embryos who died after someone tampered with the cryogenic nursery in 2020.⁴²
- D. As summarized by an attorney whose firm has represented hundreds of people with fertility industry claims, "Tragically we see very serious errors on a daily basis. These are the wild west days of the American fertility industry . . . It can do, basically, whatever it likes."⁴³

5. Increasing demand for commercial surrogacy from foreign nationals (pathway to citizenship) and celebrities

- A. Depending on policy specifics, expanding IVF access has the potential to further advance (or at least permit the continuation of) "reproductive tourism." From 2014-2020, 32% of surrogate embryo transfers "were for international intended parents."⁴⁴ Of these, 41.7% come from China, many are men (41.3%) and 33.9% are over the age of 42 (compared to 26.2% of domestic intended parents).⁴⁵ This is particularly concerning given the Chinese Communist Party is known for "coercive tactics abroad"⁴⁶ as well as human rights abuses. As one surrogacy agent (who gave a pseudonym for fear of retribution) notes, "many of her clients were 'high-level Communist Party officials . . . with money and power who wanted their children to have American citizenship."⁴⁷
- B. Similarly, numerous celebrities have utilized the unregulated surrogacy market.⁴⁸ Said surrogates often have uniquely emotional and at times traumatic experiences, given that "When a high-profile person comes with business managers . . . head of security, that can be very intimidating for a surrogate," who is often drawn to surrogacy for financial reasons.⁴⁹

6. Failure to address the harm experienced by surrogate mothers

- A. Surrogate mothers face the risk of financial exploitation, becoming infertile, and dying as a result of the process.⁵⁰ There are also known cases of surrogates being trafficked.⁵¹
- B. Similarly, there are myriad examples of surrogate mothers being asked to abort, which can be emotionally taxing and draining, if not traumatic, experiences for the birth mother. For example, surrogate mother Crystal Kelley was asked to abort after a five-month ultrasound showed "a number of medical problems, including a cleft palate, a brain cyst, and a heart condition."
 - She refused and was subsequently offered \$10,000.
 - She refused again and was threatened by being told the child would be placed in an institution.
 - After seeking legal help, she was advised to go to Michigan, "One of the few states in which custody is automatically granted to the gestational mother."
 - After finding a family to adopt the baby, she did so.⁵²
- C. We respectfully propose this issue be dealt with as a priority such that any policy proposal expanding IVF access also imposes strict regulations expressly prohibiting commercial surrogacy, as well as the practice of "reproductive tourism."

7. Permitting ethically questionable practices

- A. Though the use of genetically modified embryos intended for pregnancy is banned by an annual appropriations bill rider,⁵³ there are no guarantees it will be renewed. Furthermore, there are calls to remove the ban,⁵⁴ which could make the following permissible nationwide: the creation of, and the sale or purchase of, genetically modified embryos for implantation purposes, including three-parent embryos,⁵⁵ enabling polyamorous "throuples" to have a child related to all parents; human-animal chimeras (which have already been created by scientists in China⁵⁶), and reproductive cloning (banned in some states).⁵⁷
- B. Advancements in technology present further ethically questionable practices, including in vitro gametogenesis (IVG), "which involves custom-making human eggs and sperm in the laboratory from any cell in a person's body" and "is on the precipice of materialization."⁵⁸ This could enable lesbian, homosexual, and transgender couples to have babies that are genetically related to both partners and a single person to have a "uni-baby." With further technological advancements of artificial wombs, theoretically, a male could self-procreate without the assistance of a biological woman.

Policy Recommendations: Expanding Access to In Vitro Fertilization (IVF) Necessitates Strict Oversight of the Fertility Industry and Promotion of Restorative Reproductive Medicine

Proponents of federally funded IVF, particularly for federal employees and military members, rightly claim it is hypocritical for Congress to deny members of the military the same IVF coverage they benefit from. The solution, however, is not expanding bad policy; rather, Congress needs to address the abhorrent lack of regulatory structure over the fertility industry and pass legislation that values life, prevents the commodification of children and exploitation of women, and ensures couples are aware of the risks related to IVF and the myriad restorative health options available. Furthermore, we propose that the risks faced by children created through IVF procedures (increased pediatric cancer rates, congenital heart defects, etc.) deserve serious consideration in any public policy. The following policy proposals, some of which closely mirror model legislation from Americans United for Liberty, would address the concerns inherent in IVF while fulfilling the spirit of President Trump's IVF executive order— "more babies."⁵⁹

1. Promote reproductive restorative medicine: advance the RESTORE Act

Liberty Counsel Action recommends that Congress advance the Reproductive Empowerment and Support through Optimal Restoration (RESTORE) Act as introduced by Senator Hyde-Smith (R-MS) and six others in the 118th Congress.⁶⁰ In short, this act seeks to promote restorative reproductive care methods that are known to improve women's health and natural ability to conceive. Such methods are also often more cost-effective than IVF. Notably, this approach would likely reduce financial burdens on families seeking to conceive as well as those placed on the healthcare system.⁶¹

As the RESTORE Act findings state, "[u]nfortunately, many women do not receive adequate information about their reproductive health and do not have access to restorative reproductive medicine."⁶² Indeed, diagnosis, treatment, and research funding for most underlying reproductive health conditions is sorely lacking,⁶³ leading (in part) to the current situation wherein medical professionals (who themselves may lack the proper training on these underlying causes) simply direct couples facing infertility to IVF treatment (which as detailed above is often ineffective as well as emotionally and financially draining). The RESTORE Act takes the first steps in addressing these gaps by promoting "educational tools for women seeking information about reproductive health conditions and restorative reproductive medicine" and providing medical professionals with training opportunities "to learn how to better diagnose and treat reproductive health conditions," among other things.⁶⁴

As one researcher highlighted, "Women and men who may struggle with infertility deserve the highest standard of medical care, and this begins by offering them treatments to proactively assess and treat their reproductive health conditions before they are ready to have children. This is clearly more helpful than any political statement about IVF."⁶⁵

2. Introduce legislation with life-affirming requirements

While some IVF providers operate with the best of intentions, the "bad actors," and the unfortunate truth that ART procedures regularly lead to disappointment (miscarriage, stillbirth, or death of the child post-birth), necessitate proper regulations. As outlined by Americans United for Liberty, allowing the ART industry to self-regulate "is ineffective."⁶⁶ Setting aside the fact that not all ART programs are members of the professional organizations that create recommended guidelines (e.g. the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology (SART) or the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM)), even for those that are, there is no guarantee they follow them.⁶⁷ Liberty Counsel Action recommends Congress introduce legislation similar to the following model, which offers a basic regulatory approach that ensures life is respected and protected and mitigates the damage being caused by the current lack of regulatory oversight.

A. Limit the number of embryos created and transferred; prohibit freezing embryos

- No more than [one-two] [viable] embryos should be created in one reproductive cycle.
- All [viable] embryos should be implanted as soon as clinically appropriate.
- If two embryos are transferred, selective reduction should be expressly prohibited.
- Freezing embryos should be prohibited, with an exception allowed for couples whose circumstances change such that they no longer desire to have embryos implanted. In these cases, embryo adoption should be considered (see point (b)).

Rationale: Of note, several jurisdictions, including the state of Louisiana, as well as Australia, France, Germany, Italy, and New Zealand, have laws limiting or prohibiting "the wanton transfer, production, and destruction of human embryos."⁶⁸ Indeed, transferring multiple embryos at one time can lead to a pregnancy of multiples, which increases the risks of complications. Notably, in a

2021 Data Brief the CDC (citing ASRM) stated "Reducing the number of embryos transferred and increasing the use of single embryo transfer procedures, when clinically appropriate, can help reduce multiple births and related adverse health consequences for both mothers and infants."⁶⁹ The above recommendation also allows couples to consider whether a higher-risk (twin) pregnancy is clinically appropriate while remaining life-affirming and preventing the indefinite freezing of embryos.

B. Permit and create a regulatory structure for embryo adoption

Rationale: For embryos currently frozen as well as those that may be created in the future and abandoned, the most life-affirming solution is to permit embryo adoption. As with most ART practices, the regulatory structure required to protect the parents and children involved in embryo adoption has not been developed and is sorely needed. If said structures are created and implemented, parents of currently frozen embryos should be notified.

C. Prohibit genetic testing and selection

Rationale: While the above would by implication prevent future testing of and selection of embryos, for embryos already created, Congress should ensure embryo testing does not become a tool of modern-day eugenics by prohibiting its further use. The immutable characteristics of sex, race, non-threatening life disability, or other known or anticipated traits should not impact the selection of certain embryos over others.

D. Prohibit egg donation to third parties and surrogacy

Rationale: Women who donate eggs face myriad risks to their health.⁷⁰ Similarly, there is a greater risk of complications in pregnancies involving donor eggs, which includes surrogacy. (For example, "Studies show that women pregnant with donor eggs have a more than three-fold risk of developing pregnancy induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia."⁷¹) Given the many health and psychological risks associated with surrogacy, its ties to human trafficking, and concerns related to foreign nationals utilizing U.S. surrogates to obtain citizenship for their children, surrogacy should be expressly prohibited. Notably, several nations have laws prohibiting commercial surrogacy, and surrogacy in all forms is banned in Bulgaria, France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Taiwan, and Spain.⁷²

E. Prohibit genetic modification of embryos

Congress should expressly prohibit genetically modifying embryos, including but not limited to the creation of three-parent embryos, the creation of chimeras (human-animal hybrids), and any that could be created through advancements of in vitro gametogenesis.

Rationale: These are deeply controversial practices. The long-term effects of such modifications are unknown, and the ethical questions tied to such practices outweigh any arguments seeking to allow their continued practice.

3. Prevent "never events": require regulation of ART providers, reporting (data collection), & comprehensive informed consent

Most other medical fields closely regulate medical facilities, yet currently, there are no federal laws, nor enforced professional guidelines, that expressly require and enforce licensing and regular inspection of [ART] facilities.⁷³ Such licensing and inspection are particularly needed to mitigate the risk of "never events" (major, avoidable mistakes) and prevent tragedies like those listed above. Similarly, reporting requirements are needed to advance our understanding of the nature and extent of ART procedures. Indeed, without robust data, making policy recommendations is difficult. Finally, to ensure women are protected, uniform informed consent is sorely needed.

Federal law touches on some of these aspects, though evidence suggests it lacks efficacy. Specifically, the Fertility Clinic Success Rate and Certification Act (FCSRCA) is meant to govern ART programs and fertility clinics, requiring ART programs "to report data to CDC," and directing the CDC "to develop a model certification program" that states can voluntarily adopt.⁷⁴ However, in 2021, 33 out of 453 ART clinics "did not comply with reporting requirements."⁷⁵ Furthermore, some statutory requirements are arguably relatively ineffective on their face given "the FCSRCA does not *require* a clinic to seek certification from a state or an independent accreditation program, nor does it include penalties for failing to do so."⁷⁶

Some lawmakers have sought clarity as to the effectiveness of the law; a June 2024 letter from Senator Bill Cassidy and others to the Inspector General of HHS states it is unclear "whether CDC is implementing the law in such a manner as to maximally benefit the mothers it purportedly seeks to empower" and requests "that HHS OIG provide an evaluation and assessment of how well ART clinic oversight is working to better enable Congress to evaluate what changes may need to be made."⁷⁷ Again, based on what is known, changes are needed. As outlined by Mary E Harned, J.D., "the Secretary cannot exercise any control over how IVF clinics are run, and the CDC has chosen not to review or approve state certification programs or conduct inspections of IVF laboratories."⁷⁸

Harned goes on to outline that the FCSRCA could be amended to address some of these needs. To this end, Congress should introduce legislation to:

A. Require comprehensive reporting

ART providers and clinics should be required to report the following to the CDC:

- The information outlined in the FCSRCA, namely, pregnancy success rates achieved "through each assisted reproductive technology" and "whether the laboratory is certified,"⁷⁹ with a clarification or addition requiring that the specific rate of success per each IVF cycle be included, along with the number of embryos created per cycle that are transferred versus frozen or discarded.
- The percentage of children who survived to age one.
- Any fetal anomalies as well as low birth weights.
- The number and type of adverse (or "never") events (both those affecting the woman and child).

- Any cases of negligent care of embryos resulting in destruction or injury.
- The costs of IVF and ARTs and related insurance payments.
- Any lawsuits or similar actions taken against ART clinics and providers.

Providers failing to report should face penalties.

B. Require certification and inspection of ART clinics and providers

Like the federal government's ineffectiveness in this area, states have not adopted comprehensive certification programs that include "health and safety standards for ART providers."⁸⁰ While ART providers may argue they receive oversight in the form of private accreditation programs recognized by the CDC ("which purport to require clinics to meet standards to maintain certification"), as evidenced above, said certification has done little to prevent tragic "never events" from occurring in fertility clinics in recent years (ranging from implanting the wrong embryos to transferring "embryos that clinicians knew were not viable").⁸¹ Furthermore, in 2021, out of 453 ART clinics reporting to CDC, 39 had no accreditation."⁸² Congress should therefore amend current legislation to provide penalties for clinics that fail to obtain proper certification and inspections.

C. Require uniform informed consent procedures

Informed consent should include information on all risks associated with IVF and the less invasive options available, including but not limited to those outlined in the RESTORE Act under the definition of the term "restorative reproductive medicine," which means "any scientific approach to reproductive medicine that seeks to cooperate with, or restore the normal physiology and anatomy of, the human reproductive system, without the use of methods that are inherently suppressive, circumventive, or destructive to natural human functions" and "may include ultrasounds, blood tests, hormone panels, laparoscopic and exploratory surgeries, examining the man's or woman's overall health and lifestyle, eliminating environmental endocrine disruptors, and assessing the health and fertility of the individual's partner, Natural Procreative Technology, fertility awareness-based methods, and fertility education and medical management."⁸³ Natural Procreative Technology should also be defined as it is under the RESTORE Act, as "an approach to health care that monitors and maintains a woman's reproductive and gynecological health, including laparoscopic gynecologic surgery to reconstruct the uterus, fallopian tubes, ovaries, and other organ structures to eliminate endometriosis and other reproductive health conditions."⁸⁴

The information provided in informed consent procedures should also outline the success rates of these restorative options. Related, consent from the parents should also be required regarding any decisions concerning their currently frozen embryos.

D. Settle disputes under family law, not property law

As per the AAPLOG October 2024 committee opinion, "Since human embryos are human beings and not objects, embryo dispute cases should be settled under family law, not property law."⁸⁵

4. Advance the Protecting Families from Fertility Fraud Act

Federal law provides no limit on the number of times a man can donate sperm, "leading to donors with hundreds of offspring and a rise in accidental incest between donor-conceived half-siblings."⁸⁶ Furthermore, there are no laws regulating the information provided on sperm donors; for example, "one bank promoted its most popular donor as a genius athlete with a Ph.D. and perfect health" when said individual was actually a "college dropout with a rap sheet."⁸⁷ Such a lack of regulation leaves deceived patients little room for redress. To address this issue, Congress should reintroduce the Protecting Families from Fertility Fraud Act. Said act would make it a criminal offense to knowingly misrepresent "the nature or source of DNA used in assisted reproductive technology or assisted insemination."⁸⁸

5. Oppose the Right to IVF Act and IVF Protection Act

While both acts were introduced in the 118th Congress, given the current debate on the topic, they merit addressing. The Right to IVF Act carries numerous medical, fiscal, and ethical concerns. If enacted, it would exacerbate most of the issues detailed above.⁸⁹ The IVF Protection Act treats IVF like abortion, allowing the states to regulate it as they determine best. Simultaneously, it seeks to ensure states do not ban access to IVF, with the alternative being a loss of Medicaid funds.⁹⁰ While in many ways it is better than the Right to IVF Act, it also fails to address the myriad ethical questions surrounding IVF and other ARTs.

6. Avoid federally subsidizing IVF, allow insurance companies flexibility and choice related to IVF coverage

Liberty Counsel Action cautions against any policy that would mandate insurance companies to provide coverage for IVF treatment or federally subsidize the same. Both options would more than likely perpetuate the profit-making proclivities of the (over) \$40 billion-dollar fertility industry, including as it relates to "reproductive tourism."⁹¹ If insurers are mandated to provide IVF coverage, providers could lose incentive to price IVF competitively. A policy requiring the government to pay for costs associated with IVF would (at minimum) add billions to the Federal Budget, further burdening U.S. taxpayers. In short:

- According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, recent estimates for a single cycle of IVF "range from \$15,000 to \$20,000 and can exceed \$30,000"; combined with the fact that most women undergo 2.5 cycles (with some estimates as high as six cycles),⁹² costs can easily exceed \$40,000 per woman.⁹³
- While we do not have robust data on the number of individuals seeking IVF, according to the HHS, in 2021 approximately 413,776 assisted reproductive technology cycles were performed.⁹⁴
- Based on the above ranges, total costs likely amounted to between \$6.2 and \$12.4 billion.
- Currently most IVF is self-pay; should the government fund it, the number of those seeking it would likely see a dramatic increase. The above estimated range therefore serves as merely the minimum expected cost to taxpayers.

- Related, the above estimate does not consider the fact that couples may be incentivized to wait to procreate, knowing the government will assist them later in life, nor the men who—pending the specific policy proposed—could be eligible to hire surrogates.
- Finally, insurance premiums will undoubtedly increase.

7. Ensure any policies expanding IVF provide conscience protections*

Similarly, depending on the specific policy proposed, both options outlined in recommendation 6 carry the potential to force taxpayers or religious employers to violate sincerely held religious beliefs by subsidizing a procedure they disagree with. Given the tremendous strides the Trump administration has made in advancing religious freedom, this would be an ironic travesty; hence any policies seeking to expand reliable access to IVF should also provide conscience protections.

*Of note, this risk would be mitigated if the RESTORE Act were enacted, given it prohibits discrimination against health care providers that decline to "assist in, receive training in, provide, perform, refer for, pay for, or otherwise participate in assisted reproductive technology" or "facilitate or make arrangements for any of the activities specified in paragraph (1) in a manner that violates the provider's sincerely held religious beliefs or moral convictions."⁹⁵

Assisted Reproductive Technologies and Life-Affirming Regulations Are Not Mutually Exclusive

Couples and their prospective children deserve the best care available, including having access to all available resources related to growing a family. The above recommendations seek to ensure the prior while providing life-affirming guardrails around the fertility industry. Furthermore, though Liberty Counsel Action cautions against subsidizing IVF, if such policy is pursued, we strongly encourage it to be done alongside these recommendations, which would likely diminish the need for IVF (thus subsidizing it would by default provide less strain on the federal budget).

Finally and perhaps most importantly, we urge any policy changes in this area to avoid following the rash and reckless path of the Alabama legislature, whose knee-jerk reaction to the Alabama Supreme Court's decision (which permitted parents who lost their children to sue those who were negligent in their care of them) was to immunize fertility clinics from civil and criminal liability—an **immunity "no other medical facilities or practitioners enjoy."**⁹⁶ It not only ignored the pain of the parents who lost children but also ignored the truth that "**destroying or neglecting human embryos is not essential for IVF.**"⁹⁷

Endnotes

¹ Joshua Sharfstein, "The Alabama Supreme Court's Ruling on Frozen Embryos," John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, February 27, 2024, <u>https://publichealth.jhu.edu/2024/the-alabama-supreme-courts-ruling-on-frozen-embryos</u>. ² Emma Waters, "Babies Aren't Disposable, at Any Stage," *The Heritage Foundation*, February 15, 2023, <u>https://www.heritage.org/life/commentary/babies-arent-disposable-any-stage</u>.

³ Hannah Devlin, Tom Burgis, David Pegg, and Jason Wilson, "US startup charging couples to 'screen embryos for IQ," *The Guardian*, October 18, 2024, <u>https://archive.is/urFkV</u>.

⁵ Specifically, the law requires all artificially fertilized eggs to be intended for pregnancy—that is, one cannot create numerous embryos to test for various characteristics and either discard or freeze the ones that don't make the cut. Furthermore, the law strictly prohibits egg donation, surrogacy, and embryo experimentation. See: "Act for the Protection of Embryos (The Embryo Protection Act)," *Federal Law Gazette*, December 13, 1990,

https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/fileadmin/Dateien/3_Downloads/Gesetze_und_Verordnungen/GuV/E/ES chG_EN_Fassung_Stand_10Dez2014_01.pdf. See also: "Law on the Protection of Embryos (Embryo Protection Act -ESchG)," Federal law (consolidated daily: all versions since 2006), accessed November 14, 2024, https://www.buzer.de/gesetz/2831/index.htm.

⁶ "Ethical Treatment of Human Embryos," *AAPLOG Committee Opinion*, No.12, October 2024, <u>https://aaplog.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/2024.11.19-WEBSITE-CO-12-Ethical-Treatment-of-Human-Embryos-final.pdf</u>.

⁷ The Cambridge Dictionary defines a designer baby as one "whose genes have been chosen by its parents and doctors so that it has particular characteristics." *Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus,* (Cambridge University Press), "Designer Baby," entry, accessed February 25, 2025,

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/designer-baby#google vignette.

⁸ "Three Things You Should Know About Third Party Assisted Reproduction," *The Center for Bioethics and Culture Network*, accessed October 23, 2024, <u>https://cbc-network.org/faq/</u>.

⁹ Kathryn Jean Lopez, "Please, Can We Pause for the Death of a Wife and Mother of Two?" *National Review,* January 20, 2020, https://www.nationalreview.com/2020/01/please-can-we-pause-for-the-death-of-a-wife-and-mother-of-two/.

¹⁰ Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children, "Report on safeguards for the protection of the rights of children born from surrogacy arrangements," United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, July 15, 2019, <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/calls-for-input/report-safeguards-protection-rights-children-born-surrogacy-arrangements</u>.

¹¹ "Jennifer Lahl Speaks to U.S. Senate," *The Center for Bioethics and Culture Network*, July, 2024, <u>https://cbc-network.org/2024/07/jennifer-lahl-speaks-to-us-senate/</u>.

¹² These "can result in significant short- or long-term health consequences." See: "Maternal Infant Health," The Center for Disease Control, accessed November 12, 2024, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/maternal-infant-health/php/severe-maternal-morbidity/index.html</u>.

¹³ Maria P. Velez, et. al., "Severe Maternal and Neonatal Morbidity Among Gestational Carriers: A Cohort Study," *Annals of Internal Medicine*, September 24, 2024, <u>https://www.acpjournals.org/doi/10.7326/M24-0417</u>.

¹⁴ Nancy Flanders, "Trump signs executive order 'to expand access' to IVF," *Live Action*, February 19, 2025, <u>https://www.liveaction.org/news/trump-executive-order-expanding-access-ivf/;</u> "Jennifer Lahl Speaks to US Senate," The Center for Bioethics and Culture Network...; Shiue-Shan Weng et. al., "Assisted Reproductive Technology and Risk of Childhood Cancers," JAMA Network, August 31, 2022,

https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2795793; Leah Lawrence, "Assisted Reproductive Technology Linked to Increased Risk of Leukemia," Cancer Therapy Advisor, May 6, 2024,

https://www.cancertherapyadvisor.com/news/assisted-reproductive-technology-leukemia/; see also Deepa Dongarwar and Hamisu Mohammed Salihu, "Risk of Stillbirth after Infertility Treatment in the United States: 2014-2017," *International Journal of Maternal and Child Health and Aids*, February 2020, https://mchandaids.org/risk-of-stillbirth-after-infertilitytreatment-in-the-united-states-2014-2017/.

¹⁵ "Jennifer Lahl Speaks to U.S. Senate," The Center for Bioethics and Culture Network ...

¹⁶ Kenny A Rodriguez-Wallberg et. al., "Mortality from infancy to adolescence in singleton children conceived from assisted reproductive techniques versus naturally conceived singletons in Sweden," *Fertility and Sterility*, 113, No. 3, March 2020, <u>https://www.fertstert.org/article/S0015-0282(19)32488-4/fulltext</u>.

¹⁷ Ibid.; Nancy Flanders, "Trump signs executive order 'to expand access' to IVF, …"; "Common infertility treatments may increase risks for pregnancy, vascular complications," *Journal of the American Heart Association Report*, February 22, 2022, <u>https://newsroom.heart.org/news/common-infertility-treatments-may-increase-risks-for-pregnancy-vascular-complications</u>.

¹⁸ "National ART Summary," U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, accessed February 17, 2025, https://www.cdc.gov/art/php/national-summary/index.html?cove-tab=1.

¹⁹ "IVF Success Rates By Age," *ELITE IVF – Global IVF Clinic*, accessed February 17, 2025, <u>https://www.elite-ivf.com/ivf-success-rates-by-age/</u>.

²⁰ J Devroe, K Peeraer, T M D'Hooghe, J Boivin, A Laenen, J Vriens, E A F Dancet, "Great expectations of IVF patients: the role of gender, dispositional optimism and shared IVF," *Human Reproduction*, Volume 37, No. 5, May 2022, <u>https://academic.oup.com/humrep/article/37/5/997/6537090</u>.

⁴ Vera Lúcia Raposo, "From Public Eugenics to Private Eugenics: What Does the Future Hold?" *National Library of Medicine*, October 2022, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9635610/</u>.

²¹ Emma Waters, "To Address Infertility, It's Time to Give Real Reproductive Health Options," *The Heritage Foundation*, June 17, 2024, <u>https://www.heritage.org/marriage-and-family/commentary/address-infertility-its-time-give-real-reproductive-health-options/</u>.

²² Terri Ward, "Endometriosis: Symptoms, Causes, Treatments, and Natural Approaches," *Epoch Times*, September 15, 2024, <u>https://www.theepochtimes.com/health/endometriosis-symptoms-causes-treatments-and-natural-approaches-5720724.</u>

²³ Ibid; Emma Waters, "To Address Infertility, It's Time to Give Real Reproductive Health Options..."

²⁴ Joseph B Sanford et. al, "International Natural Procreative Technology Evaluation and Surveillance of Treatment for Subfertility (iNEST): enrollment and methods," *Oxford Academic*, August 9, 2022,

https://academic.oup.com/hropen/article/2022/3/hoac033/6659100.

²⁵ "Ethical Treatment of Human Embryos," *AAPLOG Committee Opinion*, No.12, October 2024, <u>https://aaplog.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/2024.11.19-WEBSITE-CO-12-Ethical-Treatment-of-Human-Embryos-final.pdf</u>.

²⁶ Emma Waters, "To Address Infertility, It's Time to Give Real Reproductive Health Options..."

²⁷ Darin Swainston, MD, "Can Endometriosis Cause a Miscarriage?" GYN Robotic Surgery, accessed October 23, 2024, <u>https://www.lasvegasgynsurgery.com/blog/can-endometriosis-cause-a-miscarriage</u>.

²⁸ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families," *Charlotte Lozier Institute*, November 13, 2024, <u>https://lozierinstitute.org/ivf-industry-regulation-in-the-united-states-changes-are-needed-to-protect-embryonic-children-and-their-families/</u>.

²⁹ "Assisted Reproductive Technologies Disclosure (ART) and Risk Reduction Act," *Americans United for Life Model Legislation and Policy Guide*, August 2023, <u>https://aul.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Assisted-Reproductive-Technologies-Disclosure-and-Risk-Reduction-Act_FINAL-2-2024.pdf</u>.

³⁰ Emi Nietfeld, "America's IVF Failure," *The Atlantic,* May 2, 2024,

https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2024/05/america-ivf-regulation-failures/678259/.

³¹ Letter from Senator Bill Cassidy, M.D., et al to Christi Grimm, Inspector General of HHS, June 20,

2024, https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/2024-06-20_letter_from_bc_et_al_to_hhs_oig_re_ivf_finalpdf.pdf. ³² lbid.

³³ Ibid.

³⁴ Jackie Davalos, "Kindbody Fertility Clinic Embryo Errors Spotlight IVF Business Risks," *Bloomberg*, October 13, 2023, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-10-13/kindbody-fertility-clinic-embryo-errors-spotlight-ivf-businessrisks.

³⁵ Letter from Senator Bill Cassidy, M.D., et al to Christi Grimm, Inspector General of HHS...

³⁶ "NJ couple sues fertility clinic, saying wrong sperm used to conceive child," *ABC News*, September 12, 2019, <u>https://abc7news.com/fertility-clinic-mixup-new-jersey-lawsuit/5532537/</u>.

³⁷ Mary Whitfill Roeloffs, "Doctors Impregnating Patients: Major Cases In 2023 Allege 'Fertility Fraud' Lead To 'Secret Children," *Forbes*, December 15, 2023, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/maryroeloffs/2023/12/15/doctors-impregnating-patients-major-cases-in-2023-allege-fertility-fraud-lead-to-secret-children/</u>.

³⁸ Rob Kuznia, Allison Gordon, Nelli Black and Kyung Lah, "'I slept with my half-sibling': Woman's horror story reflects loosely regulated nature of US fertility industry," *CNN*, February 14, 2024, <u>https://www.cnn.com/2024/02/14/us/fertility-fraud-accidental-incest-invs/index.html</u>.

³⁹ Ibid.

⁴⁰ John Caniglia, "UH freezer malfunction update: More than 150 families settle lawsuits in loss of embryos," September 29, 2019, Cleveland.com, <u>https://www.cleveland.com/news/2019/09/uh-freezer-malfunction-update-more-than-150-families-settle-lawsuits-in-loss-of-embryos.html</u>.

⁴¹ Edward Helmore, "Five fertility clinic patients awarded \$15m after failure of freezing tank," *The Guardian*, June 12, 2021, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/jun/12/fertility-clinic-freezing-tank-failure-california</u>; see also: Nicholas Iovino, "Jurors Asked to Award \$30 Million for Lost Eggs and Embryos," Courthouse News Service, June 9, 2021, <u>https://www.courthousenews.com/jurors-asked-to-award-30-million-for-lost-eggs-and-embryos/</u>.

⁴² "LePage v. Center for Reproductive Medicine, P.C.," Justia US Law, accessed October 22, 2024, https://law.justia.com/cases/alabama/supreme-court/2024/sc-2022-0579.html.

⁴³ Edward Helmore, "Five fertility clinic patients awarded \$15m after failure of freezing tank," The Guardian ...

⁴⁴ Alexandra Herweck et. al, "International gestational surrogacy in the United States, 2014–2020," *Fertility and Sterility,* revised December 26, 2023, <u>https://www.fertstert.org/article/S0015-0282(23)02142-8/abstract.</u> Also of note, "Gestational carriers for international intended parents were more commonly younger than 30 years (42.8% vs. 29.1%) and identified as Hispanic race (28.6% vs. 11.7%)."

⁴⁶ Testimony to the Committee on Oversight and Accountability from June 2024 outlines the following: "Beijing maintains an unofficial presence in our country, often cloaked as civil society organizations or community-based associations that ultimately report to and receive money from the Party and in some cases, instructions from China's Ministry of Public Security." See "Congressional Testimony of Mary Kissel, Former Senior Advisor to the U.S. Secretary of State," U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Oversight and Accountability, June 26, 2024, <u>https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Kissel-Testimony.pdf</u>.

⁴⁷ Emily Feng, "Chinese families navigate a maze of laws and COVID rules to have babies in the U.S.," *NPR*, October 22, 2022, <u>https://www.npr.org/2022/10/22/1128837495/surrogacy-birth-tourism-china-california</u>.

⁴⁸ Sophie Schillaci, "Hollywood's Surrogacy Spotlight: What to Know About the Process Used by Paris Hilton and More Stars," *ET*, November 27, 2023, <u>https://www.etonline.com/hollywoods-surrogacy-spotlight-what-to-know-about-the-process-used-by-paris-hilton-and-more-stars</u>.

⁴⁹ Megha Mohan, "The joy and the trauma of carrying a celebrity's baby," *BBC*, January 28, 2023, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-64421478</u>.

⁵⁰ Grace Melton and Melanie Israel, "How Surrogacy Harms Women and Children," *The Heritage Foundation*, May 5, 2021, https://www.heritage.org/marriage-and-family/commentary/how-surrogacy-harms-women-and-children.

⁵¹ Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children, "Report on safeguards for the protection of the rights of children born from surrogacy arrangements..."

⁵² Dr. Melissa Moschella, "Reproductive Technologies and Human Dignity," *Public Discourse*, November 17, 2019, <u>https://www.thepublicdiscourse.com/2019/11/57961/;</u> Elizabeth Cohen, "Surrogate offered \$10,000 to abort baby," *CNN*, March 6, 2013, <u>https://www.cnn.com/2013/03/04/health/surrogacy-kelley-legal-battle/index.html</u>.

⁵³ Kirstin R W Matthews and Daniel Morali, "Can we do that here? An analysis of US federal and state policies guiding human embryo and embryoid research," *Journal of Law and the Biosciences*, June 9, 2022,

https://academic.oup.com/jlb/article/9/1/lsac014/6604445. For the most recent ban, see The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024, section 737, https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/4366/text.

⁵⁴ Emily Mullin, "Patient advocates and scientists launch push to lift ban on 'three-parent IVF," *STAT*, April 16, 2019, <u>https://www.statnews.com/2019/04/16/mitochondrial-replacement-three-parent-ivf-ban/</u>. See also: Andrew Joseph, "Congress Revives Ban on Altering the DNA of Human Embryos Used for Pregnancies," *Scientific American*, June 5, 2019,

https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/congress-revives-ban-on-altering-the-dna-of-human-embryos-used-forpregnancies/ and Rob Stein, "House Committee Votes To Continue Ban On Genetically Modified Babies," *NPR*, June 4, 2019, https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2019/06/04/729606539/house-committee-votes-to-continueresearch-ban-on-genetically-modified-babies.

⁵⁵ Jessica Hamzelouarchive, "Three-parent baby technique could create babies at risk of severe disease," *MIT Technology Review*, March 2, 2023, <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2023/03/02/1069296/three-parent-baby-technique-risk-of-disease/</u>. The long-term effects are unknown.

⁵⁶ Alice Park, "Scientists Report Creating the First Embryo With Human and Non-Human Primate Cells," *Time*, April 15, 2021, <u>https://time.com/5954818/first-human-monkey-chimera-embryo/</u>.

⁵⁷ Kirstin R W Matthews and Daniel Morali, "Can we do that here? An analysis of US federal and state policies guiding human embryo and embryoid research..."

⁵⁸ Rob Stein, "Creating a sperm or egg from any cell? Reproduction revolution on the horizon," *NPR*, May 27, 2023, <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2023/05/27/1177191913/sperm-or-egg-in-lab-breakthrough-in-reproduction-designer-babies-ivg</u>.

⁵⁹ "Assisted Reproductive Technologies Disclosure (ART) and Risk Reduction Act," *Americans United for Life Model Legislation and Policy Guide…*; "Fact Sheet: President Donald J. Trump Expands Access to In Vitro Fertilization (IVF)," The White House, February 18, 2025, https://www.whitehouse.gov/fact-sheets/2025/02/fact-sheet-president-donald-j-trump-expands-access-to-in-vitro-fertilization-ivf/.

⁶⁰ "S.4533 - RESTORE Act," Congress.Gov, June 13, 2024, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/senate-bill/4533/text</u>.

⁶¹ Alison Centofante, "Trump Executive Order on IVF," Press & Statements, Press Release, *Americans United for Life*, February 19, 2025, <u>https://aul.org/2025/02/19/trump-executive-order-on-ivf/</u>.

62 "S.4533 - RESTORE Act," Congress.Gov...

⁶³ Emma Waters, "To Address Infertility, It's Time to Give Real Reproductive Health Options ..."

⁶⁴ "Hyde-Smith Introduces Bill to Help Fight Infertility," U.S. Senator Cindy Hyde-Smith, June 13, 2024, <u>https://www.hydesmith.senate.gov/hyde-smith-introduces-bill-help-fight-infertility</u>.

⁶⁵ Emma Waters, "To Address Infertility, It's Time to Give Real Reproductive Health Options ..."

⁶⁶ "Assisted Reproductive Technologies Disclosure (ART) and Risk Reduction Act," *Americans United for Life Model Legislation and Policy Guide...*

67 Ibid.

⁶⁸ Emma Waters, "Why the IVF Industry Must Be Regulated," *The Heritage Foundation*, March 19, 2024, <u>https://www.heritage.org/life/report/why-the-ivf-industry-must-be-regulated</u>.

⁶⁹ "State-Specific ART Surveillance," Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/art/state-specific-surveillance/2021/index.html</u>.

⁷⁰ Dr. Melissa Moschella, "Reproductive Technologies and Human Dignity," *Public Discourse...*

content/uploads/2022/02/3_Things_You_Should_Know_About_Third_Party_Reproduction-

Center_for_Bioethics_and_Culture.pdf.

⁷² "Which countries allow commercial surrogacy?" Reuters, April 5, 2023, <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/which-countries-allow-commercial-surrogacy-2023-04-05/</u>.

⁷³ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families ..."

⁷⁴ Letter from Senator Bill Cassidy, M.D., et al to Christi Grimm, Inspector General of HHS...

⁷⁵ Ibid.

⁷⁶ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families ..."

⁷⁷ Letter from Senator Bill Cassidy, M.D., et al to Christi Grimm, Inspector General of HHS...

⁷⁸ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families..."

⁷⁹ "42 USC 263a-1: Assisted reproductive technology programs," accessed November 19, 2024,

https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?hl=false&edition=prelim&req=granuleid%3AUSC-prelim-title42-section263a-1. ⁸⁰ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families..."

⁸¹ Ibid.

⁸² Letter from Senator Bill Cassidy, M.D., et al to Christi Grimm, Inspector General of HHS...

⁸³ "S.4533 - RESTORE Act," Congress.Gov...

⁸⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵ "Ethical Treatment of Human Embryos," AAPLOG Committee Opinion ...

⁸⁶ Emi Nietfeld, "America's IVF Failure…"

87 Ibid.

⁸⁸ "H.R.451 - Protecting Families from Fertility Fraud Act of 2023," *Congress.gov,* January 24, 2023, https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/451.

⁸⁹ For a detailed analysis of this Act, introduced in the 118th Congress, see https://lcaction.org/ivf.

⁹⁰ "S.4368 - IVF Protection Act," Congress.Gov, May 20, 2024, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/senate-bill/4368/text</u>.

⁹¹ "Fertility Services Market Report by Cause of Infertility (Male Infertility, Female Infertility), Procedure (In Vitro Fertilization with Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection (IVF with ICSI), Surrogacy, In Vitro Fertilization Without Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection (IVF without ICSI), Intrauterine Insemination (IUI), and Others), Service (Fresh Non-Donor, Frozen Non-Donor, Egg and Embryo Banking, Fresh Donor, Frozen Donor), End-User (Fertility Clinics, Hospitals, Surgical Centres, Clinical Research, Institutes, Cryobanks), and Region 2025-2033," *Imarc*, accessed February 25, 2025, 2024, https://www.imarcgroup.com/fertility-services-market.

⁹² "How Many IVF Cycles Does It Take to Get Pregnant?" ORM Fertility, March 29, 2023, <u>https://ormfertility.com/how-many-ivf-cycles-does-it-take/</u>; Andrew DAC Smith, Kate Tilling, Scott M Nelson, Debbie A Lawlor, "Live-birth rate associated with repeat in vitro fertilisation treatment cycles," *JAMA*, December 22, 2015, <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2478204</u>.

⁹³ "Fact Sheet: In Vitro Fertilization (IVF) Use Across the United States," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2024/03/13/fact-sheet-in-vitro-fertilization-ivf-use-across-united-

states.html#footnote35_8g1x7d5.

⁹⁴ Ibid.

95 "S.4533 - RESTORE Act," Congress.Gov, June 13, 2024 ...

⁹⁶ Mary E. Harned, "IVF Industry Regulation in the United States: Changes Are Needed to Protect Embryonic Children and their Families..."

⁹⁷ Emma Waters, "Why the IVF Industry Must be Regulated..."

⁷¹ "Three Things You Should Know About Third Party Assisted Reproduction," *The Center for Bioethics and Culture Network*, accessed October 23, 2024, <u>https://cbc-network.org/wp-</u>